# State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District IV

# **RECEIVED** 08-11-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017 AP 659 - CR Dane County Case No. 2015 CM 1673

State of Wisconsin,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Amanda L. Longley,
Defendant-Appellant.

Brief of Defendant-Appellant

On appeal from a judgment of the Dane County Circuit Court,
The Honorable Ellen K. Berz, presiding.

Brandon Kuhl State Bar No. 1074262

Kuhl Law, LLC PO Box 5267 Madison Wisconsin 53705-0267 888.377.9193

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## **

#### **Issues Presented for Review**

I. Whether precedent decided after the *Kosina* decision warrants reconsideration of the rule that the loss of right to bear arms is a collateral consequence of a conviction of a misdemeanor crime of domestic abuse, not entitling the defendant to advice from the court or counsel regarding that consequence prior to a voluntary plea.

#### **Statement of the Case**

#### I. Facts

Amanda Longley entered a plea to Battery and Disorderly Conduct on 17 December 2015. (R.32; App. 65-75.) The disorderly conduct count included the domestic abuse penalty enhancer under sections 968.075(1)(a) and 973.055(1) of the Wisconsin Statutes. (R.14; App. 1-2.) The court found her guilty of the crimes and included the domestic abuse surcharge. (R.14; App. 1-2.)

However, when she later realized that she would be prohibited from possession of a firearm, she pursued post-conviction relief.

The charges in this case resulted from an incident the complaint alleges to have occurred 8 August 2015, in which Ms. Longley argued with the father of her child (AS) and his romantic partner (SS) in the presence of Ms. Longley's child. (R.1.) The conflict occurred at the home of AS, who alleged that Ms. Longley was never invited to the property. (R.1.) The complaint also alleges that Ms. Longley used a closed fist to strike both AS and SS. (R. 1.) The battery count only pertains to SS, however, who had

never theretofore met Ms. Longley, let alone been involved in any relationship with her that would qualify as "domestic" under the statutes. (R.1.)

The disorderly conduct count, however, does not specifically list a victim, but either AS or the child would qualify as potential domestic abuse victims as charged in the complaint. (R.1.)

The charge "has, as an element, the use...of physical force... committed by a...parent[] or guardian of the victim, [or] by a person with whom the victim shares a child in common" under 18 USC § 921(a)(33)(A)(ii). This classifies the offense as a "misdemeanor crime of domestic violence," conviction of which results in the complete prohibition of possession of any firearm under 18 USC 922(g)(9).

Ms. Longley filed a post-conviction motion seeking to withdraw her plea due to her lack of knowledge of this consequence. (R. 18.) The motion was founded in a Sixth Amendment "ineffective assistance" claim. (R.18.)

She testified that neither of her two trial attorneys informed her that the plea agreement would result in the permanent loss of her right to bear arms. (R.31:25-26; App. 46-47.) Additionally, she testified that, when she reviewed the Plea Questionnaire and Waiver of Rights form, trial counsel circled rights waived by her plea but conspicuously chose not to circle or discuss the warning that she would lose the right to possess a firearm, which indicated to Ms. Longley that she need not be concerned. (R. 31:25; App. 46.) Finally, Ms. Longley testified that she has possessed firearms throughout her life and viewed hunting as a cultural and familial pastime of sufficient importance that she would risk trial to preserve her right to bear arms. (R.31:26; App. 47.)

Both trial counsel confirmed that they had no recollection of having advised Ms. Longley on the loss of her gun rights prior to her guilty plea. (R.31:14-24; App. 35-45.)

The circuit court denied the motion to withdraw Ms. Longley's plea. (R. 27; App. 5-21.)

#### II. Law

Wisconsin precedent currently does not entitle criminal defendant's to notification either from counsel or from the court

prior to entering a guilty plea to a felony or a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence, either of which will result in a federal firearm prohibition. In *State v. Kosina*, our court of appeals decided that the federal firearm prohibition was a "collateral consequence" that did not fall within the scope of Sixth Amendment protection, 226 Wis. 2d 482, 487, 595 N.W.2d 464 (1999).

The distinction between "direct" and "collateral" consequences of a conviction determines whether a criminal defendant must be informed of the consequence for his plea to be voluntary:

"A defendant who was not informed of the direct consequences of his plea did not enter his plea knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily and is entitled to withdraw it to correct a manifest injustice. No manifest injustice occurs, however, when the defendant is not informed of a collateral consequence." (Citations omitted) *Id.* at 485.

Distinguishing between direct and collateral consequences is not trivial:

"A direct consequence of a plea has a definite, immediate, and largely automatic effect on the range of a defendant's punishment. A collateral consequence, in contrast, does not automatically flow from

the plea. In some cases, a particular consequence is deemed 'collateral' because it rests in the hands of another government agency or different tribunal. It can also be collateral because it depends upon a future proceeding." (Citations omitted) *Id* at 486.

The *Kosina* court decided that the firearm prohibition was not an automatic – and thus not a direct – consequence of the criminal conviction because "the trial court made no explicit factual determination that Kosina's disorderly conduct conviction was related to domestic violence." *Id.* at 487. The *Kosina* court also thought that the whole of federal law was "collateral to the state court proceedings, [and thus] any consequence arising under that law must also be collateral." *Id.* at 488.

Kosina was decided in 1999, more than a decade before the US Supreme Court decided *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010). In *Padilla*, the US Supreme Court found that the immigration consequences of a criminal conviction could not be disregarded as collateral to the conviction, and effective representation and advice on the issue was constitutionally-guaranteed within the scope of the Sixth Amendment. The court noted, "We...have never applied a distinction between direct and

collateral consequences to define the scope of constitutionally 'reasonable professional assistance' required under Strickland." (citation omitted) Id. at 1481. However, the court found it unnecessary to discuss the distinction, due to the "unique nature of deportation." Id. Instead, "[d]eportation as a consequence of a criminal conviction is, because of its close connection to the criminal process, uniquely difficult to classify as either a direct or a collateral consequence. The collateral versus direct distinction is thus ill-suited to evaluating a Strickland claim concerning the specific risk of deportation. We conclude that advice regarding deportation is not categorically removed from the ambit of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel." Id. at 1482.

Last year, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed whether *Padilla* resulted in a right to effective advice regarding the possibility of civil commitment for sexually violent persons. *State v. LeMere*, 2016 WI 41. "Whether *Padilla's* reasoning extends to collateral consequences beyond deportation is a matter of first impression in Wisconsin." *Id* at ¶ 28. The court determined that *Padilla* required an analysis of a consequence of

criminal conviction guided by six factors: 1. uniqueness of the consequence, 2. severity of the consequence, 3. penal nature of the consequence, 4. whether the consequence is an automatic result of conviction, 5. whether the consequence is enmeshed in the criminal process, and 6. whether a special vulnerability or class status warrants particularized consideration. The court found that the risk of being civilly committed as a sexually violent person was a collateral consequence of conviction that did not fall within the ambit of Sixth Amendment protections. No Wisconsin court, however, has interpreted either *Padilla* or *LeMere* with respect to firearm prohibitions resulting from criminal convictions.

Even if a Wisconsin court were to re-affirm that the consequence is collateral and outside the scope of Sixth Amendment concerns, it may nonetheless constitute the basis for plea withdrawal when such conviction results from "affirmative, incorrect statements on the record by...counsel" regarding that consequence. *State v. Brown*, 2004 WI App 179, ¶ 13, 276 Wis. 2d 559, 687 N.W.2d 543. In *Brown*, a plea bargain involved an incorrect assumption by both the prosecutor and defense counsel that elicited the

defendant's plea. The court of appeals found that the assertions were essential to the plea agreement and that their falsity undermined the voluntariness of the plea.

#### Argument

I.

#### Introduction

In this appeal, we ask the court to reconsider whether the loss of the right to bear arms is a consequence that is truly "collateral" to a conviction in light of recent US Supreme Court and Wisconsin Supreme Court precedent.

The circuit court held that "Padilla is thus based on the unique nature of deportation, and it is only the province of higher courts, and not this court, to create a new obligation to warn a defendant of what has been previously found a collateral consequence of conviction."

As the court of appeals is one such "higher court," this court should examine this case according to the criteria set forth in *LeMere*. This court has authority to determine that its prior,

otherwise-binding precedent, has been overruled by intervening Supreme Court precedent. *State v. Forbush*, 2010 WI App 11, ¶2.

#### II.

#### Analysis in Light of the *LeMere* Factors

Our supreme court established six factors to consider when deciding how *Padilla* affects Wisconsin precedent: 1. uniqueness of the consequence, 2. severity of the consequence, 3. penal nature of the consequence, 4. and 5. whether the consequence is an automatic result of conviction and enmeshed in the criminal process, and 6. whether a special vulnerability or class status warrants particularized consideration. *State v. LeMere*, 2016 WI 41.

#### 1. Uniqueness of the Consequence

The right to bear arms is constitutionally-enshrined as well as acknowledged by the US Supreme Court in *DC v. Heller* as a codification of a personal right that pre-existed the US Constitution. 554 U.S. 570, 128 S.Ct. 2783, 2797 (2008). The loss of this right following conviction is effectively life-long,

causing permanent impairment of a person's ability to protect herself or others or to participate in cultural and familial traditions such as hunting. No other consequence of a Wisconsin conviction is more lasting.

#### 2. Severity of the Consequence

Likewise, the permanent loss of an enumerated constitutional right is a severe consequence.

#### 3. Penal Nature Of The Consequence

The loss of the right to bear arms is not intended to be any more penal than deportation. As with deportation, however, the consequence is sufficiently severe that it nonetheless constitutes a punitive effect.

# 4. and 5. Whether the Consequence Is an Automatic Result of Conviction and Enmeshed in the Criminal Process

Unlike civil commitment as addressed in *LeMere*, no other additional procedural hurdle needs to be cleared before the firearm prohibition takes effect. Instead, it is immediate.

LeMere dealt with civil commitment of sexually violent persons under Wis. Stat. Chapter 980, requiring a trial in which additional elements must be proved beyond the simple fact of conviction of a sex offense. Under Wis. Stat. § 980.02(2)(b) and (c), the subject of a petition must also have a mental illness that makes him or her dangerous to others by increasing the likelihood of further sexual violence.

Unlike deportation as addressed in *Padilla*, loss of gun rights requires no additional procedures in any court prior to becoming effective.

6. Whether a Special Vulnerability of Class Status Warrants
Particularized Consideration

Arguably, gun owners are a class defined by their cultural connection to traditions such as hunting. In the same sense that only immigrants that are charged with crimes are affected by *Padilla*, only gun owners charged with crimes would benefit from having adequate advice prior to entering pleas.

#### Conclusion

The potential loss of the right to bear arms is of central concern to many citizens of our state, and the risk is sufficiently serious that some of them, Ms. Longley included, would take their chances at trial rather than simply give up their right.

Since *Kosina*, *Padilla*, *LeMere*, and *Heller* have been decided. For that reason, it is necessary that this court review the *Kosina* decision and consider holding that criminal defendants must be advised of the imminent loss of their gun rights prior to pleas.

As such, we request that this court reverse the circuit court, vacate Ms. Longley's conviction, and remand this case to the circuit court for trial.