RECEIVED

11-30-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017AP659-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

AMANDA L LONGLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 11, THE HONORABLE ELLEN K. BERZ, PRESIDING CIRCUIT COURT CASE 2015CM1673

> Stephanie R. Hilton Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1081240

> 215 South Hamilton Street Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000 Madison, WI 53703 Telephone: (608)266-4211

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

domestic abuse surcharge was created by the Wisconsin Legislature in 1979 to fund grants for domestic abuse organizations. 1979 Wisconsin Act 111. At the current amount of \$100, the relatively small size of the fee indicates that it is not intended to have a significant deterrent or retributive value. It is significant that the domestic abuse surcharge and other related surcharges found in Chapter 973 are not included with the penalty or fine provisions in Chapter 939. This also speaks to the legislature's intent behind the law, which is to have the domestic abuse surcharge be just that - a surcharge making it very clear that the surcharge is not a penalty or fine, but rather a civil non-punitive label, therefore not punishment. See State v. Scruggs, 2017 WI 15, $\P\P$ 38, 49, 373 Wis. 2d 312, 891 N.W.2d 786. That is an important distinction under Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a), which requires that a defendant has to be made aware of the "potential punishment" before entering a guilty plea, in order for the plea to be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. See State v. Bollig, 2000 WI 6, ¶ 16, 232 Wis. 2d 561. Because a surcharge is not punishment, a defendant is not required to be advised of the imposition of that surcharge (or its potential effects) prior to entering a plea.

3. When manifest injustice results from ineffective assistance of counsel at the plea stage, the usual remedy is to vacate the plea and sentence.

The State contends that the defendant has not met her burden to prove ineffective assistance of counsel. However, if a defendant seeks withdrawal of a plea, the defendant would follow the process as outlined by the U.S. Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) and adopted by Wisconsin courts.

A defendant seeking to withdraw a plea after sentencing must prove by clear and convincing evidence that refusal to permit withdrawal would result in "manifest injustice." State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). To establish "manifest injustice," a criminal defendant must show a "serious flaw in the

fundamental integrity of the plea." State v. Nawrocke, 193 Wis. 2d 373, 379, 534 N.W.2d 624 (Ct. App. 1995) (citation omitted). "[T]he 'manifest injustice' test is met if the defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel." Bentley, 201 Wis.2d at 311.

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must satisfy a two-prong test by demonstrating both that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficiency resulted in prejudice. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. A pretrial error affecting a guilty plea vacates the plea and sentence and the defendant is entitled to a new trial. State v. Lentowski, 212 Wis. 2d 849, 857-58, 569 N.W.2d 758 (Ct. App. 1997). The usual remedy is to restore the defendant to the stage in proceedings before the acts of ineffectiveness by counsel. Id. If a defendant alleges that the ineffective acts occurred during the plea, then it would follow that the plea and sentence would be vacated, and the parties would either negotiate a new plea agreement or proceed to trial. See Lentowski, 212 Wis. 2d at 857.

в. Loss Of The Ability To Possess A Firearm Under Federal Law Due To Α Domestic Violence Conviction Is Α Collateral Consequence Of A Plea And, As A Result, Counsel's Alleged Failure To Warn Of That Consequence Is Not Deficient Performance.

1. Determining ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-prong test.

The United States and Wisconsin Constitutions quarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel is quaranteed for all criminal defendants. U.S. Const. Amends. VI and XIV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To find an attorney ineffective, "the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-88. The Sixth Amendment just refers to "counsel," and does not specify a certain degree of effectiveness. Id. at 687-88. "The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id. at 688. Strickland set forth a two-prong test that a defendant must follow to prove that her attorney was ineffective. Id. at 687. First, a defendant must prove that counsel performed deficiently. Id.; see e.g., State v. LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 25, 368 Wis. 2d 624, 879 N.W.2d 580. Second, the defendant has to show that she suffered prejudice as a result of the deficient

performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. This Court done not have to address both prongs of the test if the defendant fails to make a sufficient showing on one prong. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

2. Applying the *Strickland* Test to the Present Case.

The first prong of the ineffective assistance test is whether counsel performed deficiently. "Deficient performance means that counsel 'made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' quaranteed ... by the Sixth Amendment.'" State v. Foy, 206 Wis. 2d 629, 640, 557 N.W.2d 494, 498 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990)). "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Counsel should be afforded a strong presumption that his or her conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance and avoid the "distorting effects of hindsight." State v. Carter, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 22, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695; State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. Counsel must be adequate; it does not mean the best attorney nor the best defense. State v. Williquette, 180 Wis. 2d 589, 605, 510 N.W.2d 708, 713 (Ct. App. 1993), aff'd and remanded, 190 Wis. 2d 677, 526 N.W.2d 144 (1995). "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." Williquette, 180 Wis. 2d at 605. When assessing the attorney's performance, the court should "determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Id. at 604.

The second prong of the Strickland test requires that the defendant must show prejudice by demonstrating that there is a reasonable probability that counsel's errors "had an adverse effect on the defense." State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 37, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786. Within the context of ineffective assistance of counsel, the test for determining prejudice is whether "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. \P 37. "Reasonable probability" is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. State v. Burton, 2013 WI 61, ¶ 49, 349 Wis. 2d 1, 832 N.W.2d 611; see also State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, \P 20, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. Defense counsel's errors must be so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial and one with a reliable result. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 37. The

focus is on the reliability of proceedings, not on the outcome of the trial. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, \P 20.

At an evidentiary hearing held on November 4, 2016, both of the defendant's attorneys testified that they did not recall whether or not they counseled the defendant regarding the possibility that she would lose her right to bear arms upon being convicted of an offense that involved domestic abuse. R. 32 at 15:9-12, 18:8-10. However, both attorneys testified that it is their normal practice in domestic abuse cases to inform their clients that they may lose their right to possess a firearm. R. 32 at 15:13-17, 20:20-23.

Attorney Breun testified that usually the firearms prohibition issue comes up early in the case, but that it is her normal practice to make sure she goes over that when reviewing the plea questionnaire with her client. R. 32 at 15:14-17. However, Attorney Khandhar covered the plea hearing for Attorney Breun.

During her testimony, Attorney Khandhar explained that when stepping in to cover a plea and sentencing hearing for a colleague, she would not normally have a conversation about the federal firearms prohibition for convictions involving domestic abuse because that is a conversation

that she usually has much earlier in a case. R. 32 at 22:12-18. Attorney Khandhar also explained that she does not use the plea questionnaire form to discuss the firearm prohibition with her clients, but instead uses the criminal complaint. Additionally, Attorney Khandhar testified that she used to work for the State Public Defender's Office in Spooner, where the hunting tradition is very strong and thus losing the right to bear arms was a very relevant conversation. R. 32 at 21:12-19.

The defendant testified that the right to bear arms is significant to her because her family has a tradition of hunting together. R. 32 at 25:25-26:11. During her testimony, the defendant explained that had she known she would have lost her right to possess a gun, she would have taken the case to trial instead of entering a plea. R. 32 at 26:12-17. The defendant testified that she asked her attorneys questions, but did not specifically recall asking about possessing firearms, including when she saw the bullet point on the plea questionnaire about felony convictions and the right to possess firearms. R. 32 at 28:5-15. Finally, the defendant testified that she had assumed that only people convicted of felonies lose their right to possess a gun. R. 32 at 30:17-19.

None of the general practices described by either attorney could be described as "not functioning" as the right to counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. To the contrary, it seems that both attorneys have a similar practice when counseling clients about domestic abuse convictions and the firearms prohibition. Neither the attorneys nor the defendant could recall specifically discussing the federal firearms prohibition. However, it is more likely that one of the two attorneys, both who have no doubt counseled many clients about entering guilty pleas, followed their general practice and discussed the firearms prohibition with the defendant at some point prior to the plea hearing. Even if the court assumes that the defendant was not told about the firearms prohibition prior to her plea, that still does not rise to the level of "not functioning" as described in Strickland.

Therefore, since neither Attorney Breun nor Attorney Khandhar's performances were deficient, the court does not need to explore the second prong of the ineffective assistance of counsel test under *Strickland*.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD DECLINE TO EXTEND PADILLA AND LEMERE TO PLEA WITHDRAWALS INVOLVING LOSS OF THE RIGHT TO POSSESS A FIREARM DUE TO A DOMESTIC VIOLENCE CONVICTION.

A. Padilla And Its Narrow Focus On The "Unique" Consequence Of Deportation Does Not Extend To Firearm Prohibitions Under Federal Law.

The first prong of the ineffective assistance of counsel test within the context of immigration consequences was discussed in Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356 (2010). In that case, the Supreme Court held that counsel was required to inform the defendant that his conviction for distributing drugs would render him deportable because "the terms of the relevant immigration statute are succinct, clear, and explicit in defining the removal consequence for Padilla's conviction." Id. at 368. The Court noted that Padilla's attorney could have easily determined the offense was a deportable one simply by reading the statute, but instead Padilla's attorney provided false assurance that the conviction would not result in removal.

However, *Padilla* did not change or eliminate the distinction between direct and collateral consequences. "Whether that distinction is appropriate is a question we need not consider in this case because of the unique nature of deportation." *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 365.

The Kosina analysis is still valid in light of Padilla and the interplay with District of Columbia v. Heller, which clarified that the right to possess a firearm is a

constitutional right held by an individual. *Heller*, 554 U.S. 570, 592 (2008). Because the firearms prohibition arises out of federal law that is collateral to state court proceedings, and the defendant's punishment for Disorderly Conduct arises out of state law, the firearm prohibition is separate from the state criminal conviction and the range of punishment. *Kosina*, 226 Wis. 2d at 488-89.

B. Under The Lemere Analysis, The Firearm Prohibition Is Not Equivalent To Deportation Within The Context Of Plea Withdrawal.

The defendant argues that the collateral consequences analysis outlined in $State\ v.\ LeMere$, 2016 WI 41, ¶¶ 49-66, 368 Wis. 2d 624, 879 N.W.2d 580, should be utilized in the present case because both LeMere and Padilla modified the Kosina decision. The State disagrees.

In LeMere, the Court discussed whether the Sixth Amendment requires defendants to be advised about the possibility of Chapter 980 commitment. LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 49. The Court reviewed the same factors that the U.S. Supreme Court set forth in their decision in Padilla, a case that essentially set deportation apart from other collateral consequences. LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 49. Even in the case of a civil commitment under Chapter 980, which is ultimately a deprivation of a person's liberty, the

Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that a Chapter 980 commitment is a collateral consequence for the following reasons: it is not as severe as deportation, it is not a penalty but rather for treatment purposes, it is not an automatic result of the underlying conviction, it is rehabilitative, and is not enmeshed in the criminal process. LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶¶ 49-66. Ultimately the Court in LeMere decided that "Padilla specifically brought advice about the unique consequence of deportation within the Sixth Amendment's guarantee of effective assistance of counsel. We decline to create a similar exception for Chapter 980 civil commitment." LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 69.

In light of the holding in LeMere, the State contends that if the Wisconsin Supreme Court will not apply Padilla to Wisconsin law by granting an exception to the definition of collateral consequences for advising defendants about the possibility of a Chapter 980 commitment - which involves a deprivation of liberty - how can Wisconsin courts make an exception for the intersection of the federal firearm prohibition and crimes of domestic abuse - which only involves the loss of the right to possess a firearm? Furthermore, the Wisconsin Supreme Court declined to grant an exception to the definition of collateral

consequences for civil commitment under Chapter 980, which is a Wisconsin state law and clearly within the constitutional charge of our state's highest court to interpret. Therefore, whether or not a person who is convicted of a misdemeanor crime involving domestic abuse will lose their right to possess a firearm under federal law is a determination that is made by a federal tribunal, and is thus further removed from interpretation by our state courts.

In the alternative, should this Court decide that applying the *LeMere* analysis to the facts of the present case is appropriate, the State contends that the outcome is still the same.

The factors in the *LeMere* analysis are: 1) the uniqueness of the consequence; 2) the severity of the consequence; 3) the penal nature of the consequence; 4) whether the consequence is the automatic result of conviction; 5) whether the consequence is enmeshed in the criminal process; and 6) whether a special vulnerability or class status warrants particularized consideration. *LeMere*, 2016 WI 41, ¶¶ 46-48.

The Defendant very briefly discusses each of the six factors in her brief, but provides no case law or even

public policy arguments to support her assertions. First, the Defendant asserts that because the firearm prohibition is life-long, it is therefore unique. See Def. Br. 9-10. However, based on the structure of 18 U.S.C. § 922(q), the firearm prohibition applies not only to those convicted of domestic violence, but also to 1) those convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for more than one year; 2) a fugitive from justice; 3) an unlawful user of or addicted any controlled substance; 4) someone who has adjudicated as a mental defective or been committed to any mental institution; 5) undocumented persons or anyone in the country on a nonimmigrant visa; 6) those dishonorably discharged from the armed forces; 7) anyone who has renounced their citizenship; and 8) anyone subject to a restraining order. 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1)-(9). Therefore, simply based on the large number of categories of people who are federally banned from possessing a firearm, there is nothing unique about this consequence to this Defendant.

Second, the loss of the right to possess a firearm is in no way comparable to deportation. If the possibility of a Chapter 980 commitment is only a collateral consequence and not as severe as deportation, then certainly the severity of the firearm prohibition does not rise to the

level of deportation, even in light of the Defendant's "cultural and familial pastime" of hunting.

The firearm prohibition is not penal in nature. The 980 commitment is rehabilitative and therefore not penal. See LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 56. When Congress enacted the firearm prohibition, the intent of the legislation was to protect victims of domestic abuse by reducing the risk of future violence involving guns, not to penalize domestic abusers. See Koll v. Dep't of Justice, 2009 WI App 74, ¶ 16, 317 Wis. 2d 753, 769 N.W.2d 69; see also U.S. v. Hartsock, 347 F.3d 1, 4-5 (1st Cir. 2003). Just like the Ch. 980 commitment serves the greater purpose rehabilitating sex offenders and protecting the public, the firearm prohibition serves the greater of purpose protecting victims of domestic violence.

fourth factor addresses whether The the firearm prohibition is automatic upon conviction, and the answer is Once the circuit court makes a finding conviction involves domestic violence, the firearm ban is automatic. See Kosina, 226 Wis. 2d at 487. However, just because the ban is automatic does not mean that it morphs into a direct consequence of a conviction, requiring Padilla to apply. See Kosina, 226 Wis. 2d at 488-89.

Additionally, there is nothing to indicate that the all the factors must be considered under the *LeMere* analysis, and there is nothing to indicate that any of the factors hold greater weight than the others. *See LeMere*, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 48.

Whether the firearm prohibition is "enmeshed in the criminal process" is the fifth factor under the LeMere analysis, which determined that commitment under Ch. 980 was not enmeshed in the criminal process because it is a separate process in which the State has to prove the person's "dangerousness" on top of the underlying conviction. LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 66. Additionally, the Court determined in LeMere that the Ch. 980 program is rehabilitative in nature and is unlikely to affect the majority of people convicted of sexual offenses. Id. The firearm prohibition is similar in that the purpose is not punitive, but rather for the purpose of public safety.

The Defendant argues that "gun owners are a class defined by their cultural connection to traditions such as hunting," thus fulfilling the sixth factor in the *LeMere* analysis. Def. Br. 11. Additionally, the Defendant contends that because "only immigrants that are charged with crimes are affected by *Padilla*, only gun owners charged with

crimes would benefit from having adequate advice prior to entering pleas." Def. Br. 11. Again, the Defendant is trying to assert that the consequences gun owners and undocumented persons convicted of a crime face are similarly severe, therefore warranting special protections for gun owners. However, the Defendant provides no support for this argument.

The firearm prohibition does not rise to the same level as deportation even when applying the *LeMere* factors. Therefore, the firearm prohibition continues to be a collateral consequence of conviction.

C. Wisconsin Courts Continue to Follow Kosina.

Although Kosina was decided in 1999, it is still good law for a number of reasons. First, Wisconsin courts continue to rely on Kosina when addressing whether or not a defendant may withdraw a plea due to not being advised of the federal firearm prohibition for misdemeanor convictions involving domestic abuse. In an unpublished 2010 case, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals confirmed in State v. Neis² that Kosina still applies and the impact of the federal firearms prohibition for persons convicted of misdemeanor offenses involving domestic abuse is a collateral consequence of a

² Per Wis. Stat. §809.23(3)(b), an unpublished decision issued on or after July 1, 2009, may be cited for its persuasive value.

conviction and therefore cannot form the basis for a plea withdrawal. State v. Neis, No. 2009AP1287, unpublished slip op. (Ct. App. Jul. 15, 2010), ¶ 11. This unpublished decision is certainly persuasive given the facts are similar to the present case, and Neis demonstrates that Wisconsin courts continue to rely on the holdings in Kosina.

defendant in Neis makes essentially the argument as in the present case: the rights under the Second Amendment to the U.S. Constitution are significant enough to render the plea involuntary because the defendant did not have knowledge that the federal firearm prohibition would apply upon conviction of а misdemeanor crime involving domestic abuse. Neis, No. 2009AP1287, ¶ 7. The appellate court concluded that they are "bound by Kosina's holding that a circuit court need not inform a defendant of the federal firearm ban before accepting a guilty plea" and upheld the circuit court's decision to deny the defendant's motion without a hearing. Id. ¶¶ 5, 7.

The second reason that demonstrates *Kosina* is still good law involves the timing of court decision. *Neis* was decided about four months after *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356 (2010), so if Wisconsin's appellate court believed

that Padilla could apply in this situation, it seems logical that the Court of Appeals would have addressed Padilla in this unpublished decision, but it did not.

Third, while upholding *Kosina*, the appellate court in *Neis* indicates that it understands the significance of the constitutional right to bear arms, but notes that this issue "must be addressed by the legislature or supreme court; we cannot read new requirements into Wis. Stat. § 971.08 that are not there based on our assessment of the importance of those rights." *Neis*, No. 2009AP1287, ¶ 13. The court further opines:

distinction between direct and consequences as determinative of the constitutional validity of a plea seems to be problematic... [The right to possess a firearm] is a significant enough right for United Sates and Wisconsin citizens that we have included it in both constitutions. It is difficult to this riaht is nonetheless conclude that insignificant that it is only "collateral" а consequence of pleading guilty to a disorderly conduct charge. But that is all it is. (emphasis added). See State v. Kosina, 226 Wis. 2d 482, 489, 595 N.W.2d 464 (Ct. App. 1999).

State v. Neis, No. 2009AP1287, unpublished slip op. (Ct. App. Jul. 15, 2010), \P 15, n.4.

Finally, State v. Kosina continues to be listed in the annotations for the current 3 Wis. Stat. § 971.08, which is

³ This citation is to the 2015-16 statutes and the online version indicates they are updated as of Nov. 30, 2017.

another indication that Wisconsin courts continue to follow the holdings in that case.

As noted by the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in *Neis*, there is nothing Wisconsin courts can do unless the Wisconsin Legislature adds a requirement to Wis. Stat. § 971.08, or the U.S. Supreme Court decides to weigh in. *See State v. Neis*, No. 2009AP1287, unpublished slip op. (Ct. App. Jul. 15, 2010), ¶ 13.

III. STATE V. BROWN IS DISTINQUISHABLE FROM THE PRESENT CASE AND THEREFORE DOES NOT HELP THE DEFENDANT'S ARGUMENT

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